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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

 

 

FRIENDS OF ANIMALS, 

7500 E Arapahoe Rd Ste 385,  

Centennial, CO 80112, 

   

  Plaintiff,    

v.     

 

U.S. FISH AND WILDLIFE SERVICE, 

an agency of the United States,  

1849 C Street, NW, Washington, DC 

20240, 

 

and 

 

RYAN ZINKE, in his official capacity as 

Secretary of the United States 

Department of the Interior, 

1849 C Street, NW, Washington, DC 

20240; 

 

  Defendants.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Civil Action No.     

 

 

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF  

Introduction 

1. The northern subspecies (Ara macao cyanoptera) and the northern 

distinct vertebrate population segment (DPS) of the southern subspecies (Ara 

macao macao) of scarlet macaw (hereinafter jointly referred to as the “scarlet 

macaw”) are types of neotropical parrot species commonly referred to as macaws 

with an expansive range extending from Mexico southward to central Bolivia and 

Brazil. The scarlet macaw is imperiled by anthropogenic developments that divide 

and destroy their habitat and poachers who target them for the pet trade—a task 

Case 1:18-cv-01761   Document 1   Filed 07/27/18   Page 1 of 18

Jeremy Mckay
1:18-cv-1761



 

2 

made simpler by the new roads granting easy access to once pristine and remote 

jungle habitats. This lawsuit is an effort to preserve this iconic species in its native 

habitats.  

2. Plaintiff, Friends of Animals, (“FoA”) brings this action against 

Defendants to force them to carry out their duties under the Endangered Species 

Act (“ESA”), 16 U.S.C. §§ 1531 et seq. Defendants have failed to comply with their 

mandatory duties to make a final listing decision to list the scarlet macaw as an 

endangered or threatened species under the ESA and to designate its critical 

habitat. This lawsuit seeks to force Defendants to make the overdue finding.  

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

3. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 

1331 (federal question) and 16 U.S.C. §§ 1540(c) and (g) (action arising under the 

ESA and citizen suit provision).   

4. This Court has authority to grant requested relief pursuant to the 

Declaratory Judgment Act, 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201-02, 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g) (ESA), and the 

Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. §§ 701-706 (“APA”). 

5. More than sixty (60) days ago, the United States Fish and Wildlife 

Service (“FWS”) was furnished with written notice of its violation of the ESA and of 

Plaintiff’s intent to sue.  See 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g)(2).   

6. FWS has not remedied its violation of the ESA by making the overdue 

finding on the final rule for the scarlet macaw. Therefore, an actual controversy 

exists between the parties within the meaning of the Declaratory Judgment Act. 28 
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U.S.C. § 2001. 

7. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(e) and 16 U.S.C. § 

1540(g)(3)(A) because a significant part of the acts and omissions giving rise to 

Plaintiff’s cause of action occur in this judicial district. As this civil action is brought 

against officers and employees of the United States acting in their official capacities 

and under the color of legal authority, a substantial part of the events giving rise to 

the claim occurred in the District of Columbia. The head offices of the Department 

of Interior and FWS, the decision-making authority in issuing final rules for the 

scarlet macaw and the lead region group in charge of foreign listings under the 

Endangered Species Act, all reside within jurisdiction of this court. 

PARTIES 

8. Plaintiff, FRIENDS OF ANIMALS (“FoA”), sues on behalf of itself and its 

adversely affected members. FoA is an international nonprofit advocacy 

organization with nearly 200,000 members worldwide. FoA advocates on behalf of 

animals both domestic and free-living and strives to strike out human practices that 

harm animals. FoA is injured by the FWS’s failure to make statutorily required 

decisions concerning the listing of the scarlet macaw in a timely manner. Members 

of FoA enjoy viewing the scarlet macaw in its habitat for recreational, aesthetic, and 

scientific activities and will continue to do so. FoA and its members are particularly 

concerned with the conservation of the scarlet macaw and the ecosystems on which 

it depends for its survival. FoA and its members have a substantial interest in this 

matter and are adversely affected by the Defendants’ failure to comply with the 
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ESA.  The requested relief will redress FoA and its members’ injuries. See Ex. A; 

DECLARATION OF ELIZABETH RASHEED. 

9. Defendant, RYAN ZINKE, is the Secretary of the United States 

Department of the Interior. He has ultimate responsibility for implementation of 

the ESA. He is sued in his official capacity. He is the highest-ranking official within 

the U.S. Department of the Interior, and in that capacity, has ultimate 

responsibility for the administration and implementation of the ESA with regard to 

terrestrial endangered and threatened species, and for compliance with all other 

federal laws applicable to the Department of the Interior. Secretary Zinke is sued in 

his official capacity.   

10. Defendant the U.S. FISH AND WILDLIFE SERVICE is an agency or 

instrumentality of the United States. In this case, the Secretary of the Interior has 

delegated his responsibilities to the FWS. FWS is responsible for administering the 

provisions of the ESA with regard to threatened and endangered terrestrial species, 

including the scarlet macaw. FWS’s foreign listed species are managed and 

approved by FWS headquarters in Washington, D.C. 

STATUTORY AND REGULATORY BACKGROUND 

1. The Endangered Species Act 

11. In drafting the ESA, Congress found that “various species of fish, 

wildlife, and plants in the United States have been rendered extinct as a 

consequence of economic growth and development untempered by adequate concern 

and conservation,” and that “other species of fish, wildlife, and plants have been so 
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depleted in numbers that they are in danger of or threatened with extinction.” 16 

U.S.C. §§ 1531(a)(1) and (2). Accordingly, Congress passed the ESA to “provide a 

means whereby the ecosystems upon which endangered species and threatened 

species depend may be conserved, [and] to provide a program for the conservation of 

such endangered species and threatened species . . . .”  16 U.S.C. 1531(b). 

12. To this end, the ESA requires FWS to list species of plants and 

animals that are facing extinction as “threatened” or “endangered” and to designate 

protected “critical habitat” for each listed threatened or endangered species. 16 

U.S.C. § 1533(a). An “endangered species” is “any species which is in danger of 

extinction throughout all or a significant portion of its range.” 16 U.S.C. § 1532(6). A 

“threatened species” is a species “which is likely to become an endangered species 

within the foreseeable future.” 16 U.S.C. § 1532(20). 

13. In order for the ESA to protect a species, FWS must first officially list 

the species as either threatened or endangered. 16 U.S.C. § 1533(a). The listing 

process is the critical first step in the ESA’s system of species’ protection and 

recovery. FWS must also designate the species’ habitat as “critical habitat” for it to 

receive several important ESA protections. 16 U.S.C. §1533(a)(3)(A)(i), see also § 

1533(b)(6)(C). 

14. Any interested person can initiate the listing process by filing a 

petition to list a species with FWS. 16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(3)(A); 50 C.F.R. § 424.14(a). 

15. Upon receipt of a petition to list a species, FWS is required to make an 

initial finding known as a “90-day finding.”  Specifically, within 90 days of receipt, 
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“to the maximum extent practicable,” FWS must determine whether the petition 

presents “substantial scientific or commercial information indicating that the 

petitioned action may be warranted.” 16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(3)(A). FWS’s 

implementing regulations define “substantial information” as “that amount of 

information that would lead a reasonable person to believe that the measure 

proposed in the petition may be warranted.” 50 C.F.R. § 424.14(b). 

16. If FWS finds that the petition presents substantial information (a 

“positive 90-day finding”) FWS must publish its finding in the Federal Register and 

“shall promptly commence a review of the status of the species concerned.” 16 

U.S.C. § 1533(b)(3)(A). 

17. In the case of a positive 90-day finding, FWS has 12 months from the 

date that the petition was received to make one of three findings: (1) the petitioned 

action is not warranted; (2) the petitioned action is warranted; or (3) the petitioned 

action is warranted but presently precluded by other pending proposals to list 

species of higher priority, provided that FWS is making expeditious progress in 

listing other species. 16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(3)(B); 50 C.F.R. § 424.14(b)(3).   

18. As has been described by this Court before, “the 12-month deadline is 

mandatory and inflexible.” Friends of Animals v. Ashe, 51 F. Supp. 3d 77, 80 

(D.D.C. 2014). 

19. If FWS makes a 12-month finding that the petitioned action is 

warranted, then it must publish a proposed rule to list the species as endangered or 

threatened in the Federal Register. 16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(5). 
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20. Within one year of the publication of a proposed rule to list a species, 

FWS must make a final decision on the proposal, 16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(6)(A), or 

extend the deadline by up to six months in cases of scientific uncertainty. 16 U.S.C. 

§ 1533(b)(6)(B)(i). 

21. “Concurrently” with listing a species as threatened or endangered, 

FWS must designate critical habitat for the species to the maximum extent prudent 

and determinable. 16 U.S.C. §1533(a)(3)(A)(i), see also § 1533(b)(6)(C). 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

22. The scarlet macaw, pictured below, is amongst the largest macaws. 

They are brilliantly colored and predominantly scarlet red. 

  

Ara macao cyanoptera with intensive yellow 

and blue coloration without any green. © Tony 

Silva.  

Ara macao macao with green 

coloration. © @Doug88888 
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23. The northern subspecies, A. m. cyanoptera, is larger with significantly 

longer wing lengths, and does not have the green band separating the yellow and 

blue on its yellow wing coverts. The subspecies A. m. cyanoptera occurs further 

north, and an intergradation between the two forms occurs in southern Nicaragua 

to northern Costa Rica, with the southern subspecies, A. m. macao, occurring 

southward through the South American range of the species.  

24. The scarlet macaw measures approximately 84-89 cm in length, has 

large white mostly bare facial patches, and a whitish upper bill and black lower bill 

in addition to its other bright colorings.  

25. The scarlet macaw primarily inhabits tropical humid evergreen forest, 

as well as some other forest types, and forages primarily in developed forest canopy, 

and nests in pre-existing tree cavities in ranges of 16 to 24 meters above the 

ground. 

26. Scarlet macaws are long-lived, mature slowly, don’t begin to breed 

until 4-7 years old, generally breed only once per year with highly restrictive 

nesting requirements, and then have low survival rates of their young. Populations 

generally contain a large proportion of nonbreeding adults. 

27. The scarlet macaw is imperiled by several factors including: the 

present or threatened destruction, modification or curtailment of habitat in its 

range; overutilization for commercial, recreational, scientific or educational 

purposes; the inadequacy of regulatory mechanisms in range of the species; and 
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stochastic demographic and environmental effects such as climate change.  

28. The present or threatened destruction, modification or curtailment of 

the habitat in the scarlet macaw’s range is a significant threat caused through the 

conversion of forests to agriculture, but other uses such as roads, infrastructure, 

logging, fires, oil and gas extraction and mining contribute to varying degrees.  

29. The overutilization of scarlet macaws, primarily a result of poaching 

for the pet trade, is a significant threat to the scarlet macaw through Mesoamerica.   

30. Similarly, small population size, cumulative effects of other threats, 

competition for nest cavities, climate change, and risk of other stochastic events are 

threats to the continued existence of the scarlet macaw throughout Mesoamerica, 

which includes the entire range of A. m. cyanoptera.  

31. The ongoing nature of the threats caused by deforestation and 

poaching, which pose immediate threats to the scarlet macaw, demonstrates that it 

is reasonable to conclude the regulatory mechanisms addressing these threats are 

inadequate. Therefore, the inadequacy of existing regulatory mechanisms poses an 

immediate threat to the continued existence of the scarlet macaw throughout its 

range.  

32. To protect the scarlet macaw, Friends of Animals, represented by the 

Environmental Law Clinic, University of Denver, Sturm College of Law, petitioned 

FWS on January 29, 2008, which was received on January 31, 2008, to list 14 

vanishing bird species under the Endangered Species Act. 

33.  On July 14, 2009 FWS published a 90-day finding in which the agency 
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determined that the petition presented substantial scientific and commercial 

information to indicate that listing may be warranted for 12 of the 14 species. 74 

Fed. Reg. 33957 (Jul. 14, 2009).  

34. In FWS’s 90-day finding on this petition, the agency announced its 

initiation of a status review for the following 12 species: blue-headed macaw 

(Primolius couloni), crimson shining parrot (Prosopeia splendens), great green 

macaw (Ara ambiguus), grey-cheeked parakeet (Brotogeris pyrrhoptera), hyacinth 

macaw (Anodorhynchus hyacinthinus), military macaw (Ara militaris), Philippine 

cockatoo (Cacatua haematuropygia), red- crowned parrot (Amazona viridigenalis), 

scarlet macaw (Ara macao), white cockatoo (C. alba), yellow-billed parrot (Amazona 

collaria), and yellow-crested cockatoo (C. sulphurea). FWS initiated this status 

review to determine whether listing any of the species was warranted, and initiated 

a 60- day information collection period to allow all interested parties an opportunity 

to provide information on the status of the species.1  

35. On March 2, 2010, Friends of Animals and WildEarth Guardians filed 

suit against FWS for failure to make timely 12-month findings within the statutory 

deadline of the ESA on the 12 species for which the FWS made a 90-day finding. 

Friends of Animals, et al. v. Salazar, No. 10 Civ. 357 (D.D.C. Jul. 21, 2010). 

36. On July 21, 2010, a settlement agreement was approved by the Court 

                                                 
1 The two species of parrots deemed not warranted as part of this petition were the 

thick-billed parrot (it was already listed as endangered throughout its range) and 

the blue-throated macaw (it was already listed as a candidate species and is now 

listed as endangered). The public comment period closed on September 14, 2009. 
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in which FWS agreed to submit 12-month findings to the Federal Register by July 

29, 2011, September 30, 2011, and November 30, 2011 for no less than 4 of the 

petitioned species on each date. Id. 

37. On September 16, 2011 an extension to the settlement agreement was 

approved by the Court in which FWS agreed to submit a determination for the four 

of species which had yet to a determination made in the Federal Register by June 

30, 2012. Id.  

38. On July 6, 2012, FWS published a 12-month status review and 

proposed rule to list the great green macaw and military macaw, 77 Fed. Reg. 40172 

(Jul. 6, 2012), hyacinth macaw, 77 Fed. Reg. 39965 (Jul 6, 2012) and scarlet macaw, 

77 Fed. Reg. 40222 (Jul 6, 2012). 

39. On April 7, 2016, FWS published a revised proposed rule, which 

revised the proposed listing on both subspecies of scarlet macaw by making five 

significant changes and reopened public comment. 81 Fed. Reg. 20302 at 20303.2    

                                                 
2 The revived listing determination makes the following significant changes to the 

original proposed rule: “(1) Revising the location of what we consider to be the 

boundary between the northern subspecies, A. m. cyanoptera, and the northern DPS 

of the southern subspecies, A. m. macao; (2) providing additional information on A. 

m. cyanoptera in northeast Costa Rica, southeast Nicaragua, and Panama, and 

reevaluating the status of the subspecies; (3) providing additional information on 

the northern DPS of A. m. macao, reevaluating the status of this DPS, and revising 

our proposed listing of this DPS from endangered status to threatened status; (4) 

adding a proposal to treat the southern DPS of A. m. macao and subspecies crosses 

(A. m. cyanoptera and A. m. macao) as threatened based on similarity of appearance 

to A. m. cyanoptera and to the northern DPS of A. m. macao; and (5) adding a 

proposal under section 4(d) of the Act to define activities that are necessary and 

advisable for the conservation of scarlet macaws listed as threatened and crosses of 

the two scarlet macaw subspecies.” 
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40. Since that time FWS has made no determination on the scarlet macaw. 

FWS, however, did recognize its statutory deadline to make a final listing 

determination for the scarlet macaw on October 17, 2016 in its Endangered and 

Threatened Wildlife and Plants; Review of Foreign Species That Are Candidates for 

Listing as Endangered or Threatened; Annual Notification of Findings on 

Resubmitted Petitions; Annual Description of Progress on Listing Actions. 81 Fed. 

Reg. 71457 at 71470 (Oct. 16, 2016).   

41. In September of 2016, FWS created a listing workplan, which has been 

made available on the FWS website. The workplan lists many, but not all, species 

FWS has congressionally mandated deadlines for. Ex. B; UNITED STATES FISH AND 

WILDLIFE SERVICE, NATIONAL LISTING WORKPLAN: 7-YEAR WORKPLAN (SEPTEMBER 

2016 VERSION), available at https://www.fws.gov/endangered/esa-

library/pdf/Listing%207-Year%20 Workplan%20Sept%202016.pdf.  

42. The listing workplan details the agenda for the FWS extending all the 

way until the end of the Federal Fiscal Year in 2023, September 30, 2023.  

43. This listing workplan is based on and works together with the 2016 

Methodology for Prioritizing Status Reviews and Accompanying 12-Month Findings 

on Petitions for Listing Under the Endangered Species Act. Fed. Reg. 49248 (Jul. 

2016). 

44. The methodology ranks species from 1, or those that are “Highest 

Priority—Critically Imperiled,” 81 Fed. Reg. 49248 at 49249, to 5, species listed as 

and with “Limited Data Currently Available.” 81 Fed. Reg. 49248 at 49250. Species 
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with a ranking of 5 are placed in this lowest priority bin because of the limited data 

currently available, and FWS does so acknowledging that they need to make listing 

decisions based on the best available scientific and commercial data. Because the 

best available data for species in this bin may be very limited even if the FWS 

conducts further research it just prioritizes work on actions in Bins 1, 2, 3, and 4 for 

completion first. Id.   

45. Plaintiff sent a sixty-day notice of intent to sue Defendants on May 3, 

2018, satisfying its statutory notice requirements. Ex. D. Certified Mail and Return 

Receipts Scan.  

46. On June 27, 2018 FWS sent a response to FoA’s notice of intent to sue, 

dated June 26, 2018, that acknowledged the scarlet macaw is one “among many 

outstanding listing and critical habitat actions that we were unable to complete due 

to competing workload and higher-priority actions.” FWS further alleges in its 

response it “expect[s] to complete these listing determinations in the first quarter of 

fiscal year 2019.”  

47. The scarlet macaw is not one of the species listed on the workplan for 

action by the FWS. Ex. B. 

48. Nor is the scarlet macaw on the list of unscheduled listing actions of 

the FWS website.  Ex. C; UNITED STATES FISH AND WILDLIFE SERVICE, NATIONAL 

LISTING WORKPLAN: UNSCHEDULED LISTING ACTIONS (SEPTEMBER 2016 VERSION), 

available at https://www.fws.gov/endangered/esa-

library/pdf/Unscheduled%20Listing%20Actions %20Sept%202016.pdf. 
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49. Nor is it apparent what, if any, priority the scarlet macaw is given 

under the 2016 methodology as the scarlet macaw is not present in any list for 

action available on the FWS website or through any Federal Register publication.  

50. Nor has FWS been following its own guidance concerning its 2016 

methodology or the actions it has set for itself in the national listing workplan. 

51. As of July 1st, 2018, despite FWS’s own listing methodology and 

workplan agenda, FWS took no action for species ranked with a priority number 1 

and acted upon all species with a priority number of 5 in the listing workplan with a 

self-imposed deadline for September 30, 2017.   

52. FWS took no action consistent with its 2017 workplan agenda before 

the self-imposed deadline of September 30, 2017.  Additionally, more than 50% of 

the species listed in the 2017 workplan agenda were denied listing in a single 

Federal Register notice that issued a 12 month not-warranted finding en masse for 

25 species after the self-imposed FWS deadline passed on September 30, 2017. 82 

Fed. Reg. 46618 (Oct. 5, 2017). 

53. As of July 1st, 2018, two thirds of the way through the fiscal year of 

2018, nearly 20% of the species listed for action in the workplan with a self-imposed 

deadline that expired on September 30th, 2017 have still not been acted upon by 

FWS. In addition, only a single species with a FWS self-imposed deadline for action 

by September 30th, 2018 has had any action taken on it by the FWS.    

54. To date, FWS has not made a final determination on the listing for the 

scarlet macaw consistent with 16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(6)(A). 
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55. Defendants’ refusal to take action and make a final determination 

leaves the scarlet macaw unprotected in the face of well-documented and significant 

trends towards extinction.  

CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

Violation of the Endangered Species Act, 16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(6)(A) Failure to Make 

a Final Listing Determination for the Scarlet Macaw 

56. Each and every allegation set forth in this Complaint is incorporated 

herein by reference. 

57. The ESA required Defendants to make a final determination on the 

listing decision for the scarlet macaw, the northern subspecies (Ara macao 

cyanoptera) and the northern distinct vertebrate population segment (DPS) of the 

southern subspecies (Ara macao macao). 16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(6)(A). At latest, 

Defendants were required to complete this listing by January 2014. Defendants 

have been in violation of this express statutory command for years. 

58. Defendants’ declaration to complete its final listing determination for 

the scarlet macaw by the first quarter of fiscal year 2019 in its response to plaintiffs 

notice of intent to sue is unreliable because: (1) Defendants’ congressionally 

mandated deadline will have expired more than half a decade before the date 

Defendants alleges it will complete the listing determination for the scarlet macaw; 

(2) Defendants have omitted the scarlet macaw from any document that 

demonstrates FWS plans to act upon its congressionally mandatory duties 

concerning the macaw; and (3) Defendants seems unable or unwilling to follow both 
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FWS’s own methodology for listing species based on the priorities it sets for itself 

and the self-imposed deadlines it creates even if there were more concrete plans by 

FWS to act on the scarlet macaw. 

59. Defendants’ failure to comply with the mandates of the ESA continues 

to cause concrete injury to Plaintiff’s interests in the use and enjoyment of the 

scarlet macaw and its habitat. 

60. The duty to issue a final determination and rule listing the scarlet 

macaw is a non-discretionary duty within the meaning of the ESA citizen suit 

provision, 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g)(1)(C). 

61. Defendants’ failure to make a final determination for both the 

northern subspecies (Ara macao cyanoptera) and the northern DPS of the southern 

subspecies (Ara macao macao) of the scarlet macaw constitutes a failure to perform 

a non-discretionary duty under the ESA, is contrary to the mandatory provisions of 

the ESA and its implementing regulations, and constitutes agency action that has 

been “unlawfully withheld and unreasonably delayed,” within the meaning of the 

APA, 5 U.S.C. § 706(1). 

62. Plaintiff has no other adequate remedy at law to redress the violations 

noted above.   

63. Unless enjoined and made subject to a declaration by this Court, 

Defendants will continue to violate their mandatory duties under the ESA to make 

a final listing determination for the scarlet macaw. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 
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WHEREFORE, Plaintiff requests that this Court enter judgment providing 

the following relief: 

1. Declare that Defendants have violated the ESA by failing to make a 

timely final determination on the listing for both the northern subspecies (Ara 

macao cyanoptera) and the northern distinct vertebrate population segment (DPS) 

of the southern subspecies (Ara macao macao) of the scarlet macaw; 

2. In the alternative, declare that Defendants have violated the APA by 

failing to make a timely final determination on the listing for both the northern 

subspecies (Ara macao cyanoptera) and the northern distinct vertebrate population 

segment (DPS) of the southern subspecies (Ara macao macao) of the scarlet macaw; 

3. Order Defendants to make, by a certain date, a final determination on 

the listing for both the northern subspecies (Ara macao cyanoptera) and the 

northern distinct vertebrate population segment (DPS) of the southern subspecies 

(Ara macao macao) of the scarlet macaw, and to publish, by a certain date, such 

finding in the Federal Register; 

4. Award Plaintiff its costs of litigation, including reasonable attorneys’ 

fees under the citizen suit provision of the ESA, 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g)(4), or, in the 

alternative, the Equal Access to Justice Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2412; and 

5. Grant such other and further relief as the Court deems just and 

proper. 

Respectfully submitted this 27th day July of 2018. 
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s/ Jeremy Mckay     

Jeremy Mckay D.C. Bar No. CO0071  

3773 E Cherry Creek North Drive  

Suite 575      

Denver, CO 80021     

Phone: 720-722-0336    

E-Mail: jmckay@eadefense.org     

Attorney for Plaintiff 
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